UNCLASSIFIED // MW@

Summary of Administrative Review Board Proceedings for ISN 1154

The Administrative Review Board was called to order.
The Designated Military Officer (DMO) was sworn.
The Board Reporter was sworn,

The Translator was sworn.

The Detainee entered thepraccedings.

The Presiding Officer announced the convening authority and purpose of the
Administrative Review Board proceedings.

The Administrative Review Board members were sworn.
The Assisting Military Officer (AMQ) was sworn.

The Presiding Offficer asked the Detainee if he wishes to make a statement under oath.
(Muslim oath offered).

The Detainee accepted taking the Muslim oath.

The Presiding Officer read the hearing instructions to the Detainee and confirmed that
he understood.

The Assisting Hilitary Offficer presented the Enemy Combatant Notification form,
Exhibit EC-A, to the Administrative Review Board,

The Assisting Military Officer presented the Enemy Combatant Election Form, Exhibit
EC-B, to the Administrative Review Board,

Presiding Officer: Assisting Military Officer please read your comments from the Enemy
Combatant Election Form.

Assisting Military Officer: The Detainee’s ARB interview was conducted on 21
December 2005 and Jasted 100 minutes. After reviewing the ARB’s purpose and
procedures, the [Farsi] translated Unclassified Summary of Evidence was read to the
Detainee. The Detainee stated he understood the difference between the CSRT and the
ARB. When asked if he wanted to attend the ARB, the Detainee replied with the
affirmative, When asked if he wanted to present a written or oral statement, or have the
AMO speak on his behalf, the Detainee stated he would like to prepare written responses
to each allegation in the Unclassified Summary of Evidence which he would like to read
to the Board after each is read by the DMO. He added that he would also like to make an
overall statement at the conclusion of the discussion of the Unclassified Summary. The
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Detainee initially indicated he wantexl the assistance of the AMO but after further
discussion he indicated he would determine to what extent he wanted assistance after he
developed his written responses. A follow-up interview was scheduled for 22 December
2005 and lasted 90 minutes. The Detainee provided copies of his written responses to the
Unclassified Summary of Evidence and asked many questions and requested that the
AMO assist him in remembering to verbalize key dates, times and events in his responses
to Board Members questions. The AMO recorded a brief summary of the Defainee's
words and agreed to assist as much as possible. The Detainee was calm and cooperative
throughout both interviews.

The Designated Military Officer presented the Unclassified Summary of Evidence,
Exhibit DMO-1, the FBI Redaction Memorandum, DMO-2, the Terrorist Organization

Reference Guide, DMO-3, CITF Reduction, and DMO -4 to the Administrative Review
Board, '

Detainee: Is this the Unclassified Surnmary that was given to me?
Presiding Officer: Yes.

The Designated Military Officer stated that a copy of these exhibits had been :
previously distributed to the Assisting Military Officer for presentation to the Detainee.

The Presiding Officer noted from the Enemy Combatant Election Fornt that the
Detainee wanted to respond to each item of the information from the Unclassified
Summary as it was presented.

The Designated Military Officer gave a brief description of the contents of the
Unclassified Summary of Evidence, Exhibit DMO-1 to the Administrative Review
Board to assist the Detainee with answering the statements.

Designated Military Officer: (3) The following primary factors favor continued
detention: (3.2) Commitment: The Detainee stated that in approximately 1986, he joined
jihad, He fought against the Russians for five years during which he was shot in the neck
and leg. He was fighting for jihad as a doetor for two years. Then he became a sub-
commander or four years.

Detainee: In the name of Allah, the most compassionate, the most merciful. With all
respect to the members of the Administrative Review Board, I would like to make a
statement to the allegations. During the Russian occupation ell the people of Afghanistan
started an uprising against the occupiers and they gathered, organized and joined in big
and small groups while the whole world supported this cause, particularly the Islamic
countries and free western countries, especially America. 1had expertise in medicine and
while I was a refugee in Pakistan I went to Afghanistan for two years and a few months
and helped the Mujahideen. While helping the Mujahideen I got injured. Afier the
departure of the Russian forces from Afghanistan I got busy with my education and left
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all political and military activity behind. I got busy in my personal life and my education.
1 was a refugee in Iran the whole time during the Mujahideen’s and Taliban’s
government. I went back to Afghanistan after the establishment of democracy to help the
central government and the people of Afghanistan. Since I got married and changed my
personal life, I left all activities behind me. I went there only a few months each year and
returned back. There was not any two years. During those five years I went to
Afghanistan for a few months.

Presiding Officer: So you lived in Pakistan for five years and then came back and forth a
couple months a year to Afghanistan, .

Detainee: Correct.

Designated Military Officer: (3.b) Training: The Detainee was trained by the Harakat
Manqualab Aslami party to use the AK-47 during the jihad against the Russians. The
Detainee did use the AK-47 during the jihad.

. Detainee: During the Mujahideen’s Jihad, I had a weapon for my own protection. There
was no training required on how to use an AK-47 and all Afghans had weapons and knew
how to use them.

Designated Military Officer: (3.¢) Connections/Assoclations (3.c.1) The Detainee fought
as a group leader with Nasrullah Mansour during the Russian Jibad. Nasrullah had & son,
Saif Rahman Mansour, who became powerful in the Taliban.

Detainee: During the Jihad I was with the Mujahideen who were with the Harakati
Ingilab-e- Istami (Islamic Revolutionary Movement Party), which was formed in
Afghanistan. It’s not comparable with westemn organizations, rather everybody in their
own area would get together with Mujahideen and it was not important to the people
which group was with which orgenization. Nasroullah Mansour was cne of the leaders of
Islamic Revolutionary Movement, and my connection with him was like any other
Mujahid’s connection with the Islamic Revolutionary Movement Party. I don’t have any
personal connection with him; he was killed in 1371, which would be the end of 1992 or
the beginning of 1993. This Islamic Revolutionary Party had a few leaders and the top
leader was Mali Mohammed, and Nasroullah was one of the leaders not the top one.

Designated Military Officer: (3.¢.2) The Detainee was introduced to a Mujahedin group,
Hizb-1-Islami. He then went back to Afghanistan for over a month, where he was
introduced to jihad. Approximately two years later, the Detainee was wounded in the leg
by government forces, after which he returned to Pakistan.

Detainee: As mentioned above, during the occupation of Afghanistan by Russia, I served
with the Mujahideen of the Islamic Revolutionary Party as a medical doctor. T went to
Afghanistan with the Mujahideen a few months out of a year and I have no ties with any
other political group and am not part of any group.
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Presiding Officer: You were wounded in the leg by pro-Russian Afghan Government
Forces. .

Detainee: Yes.

Designated Military Officer: (3.c.3) A source indicated that as of June 2002, the
Detainee claimed that he was an agent of influence for Iran.

Detainee: I consider connection with foreigners a big deficiency and betrayal to my
country, therefore I have never used this word. I consider this a lie and false accusation.
I was a refugee in Iran. There are more than two million [Afghan] refugees living in Iran
and more than that live in Pakistan and other countries, If any of these people were to
return to their country to help and serve and face an accusation like this, would anybody
dare to come back to their country? Does tiving in another country as a refugee make
him an agent of that couniry? Is not this accusation, without cause, made of thousands of
educated and intellectual people, the work of the enemies of the country who don’t want
these people to return to Afghanistan and democracy? This is exactly what this
accusation without cause is: a plot, a trick, and conspiracy of the people who wanted to
keep me away from the scene, '

Designated Military Officer: (3.c.4) A foreign government source reports that the
Detainee worked for the former Taliban Eight Division Commander, Saifullah Rahman
Mansour. The source indicated that the Detainee acted as Mansour’s representative in
Iran. ‘

Detainee: Neither I saw or know Saifullah Rahman Mansour, nor do I have any
connection with him. After the fall of Taliban, I only heard his name on the radio.
During the Taliban I was not in Afghanistan and I never mentioned in my written defense
statement in the first court that I have been a representative of these kinds of people. [
consider any connection with these people whose hands are tainted with the blood of our
nation a deficiency and a shame,

Designated Military Officet; (3.d) Other Relevant Data (3.d.1) A source said that the
Detainee said the Iranians had given him $50,000 United States Dollars to distribute
among Loya Jirga (Grand Assembly) delegates to buy their votes for the upcoming July
2002 parliamentary election. '

Detaince: Before I even start answering these allegations since the next two allegations
talk about Loya Jirga (Grand Assembly) I would like to talk about Loya Jirga. Loya Jirga
is a national process in Afghanistan that was founded in Germany. After the fall of
Taliban, all of Afghanistan and Germany gathered together and decided to clean up the
mess after the war (detainee was interrupted by Presiding Officer).
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Presiding Officer: We are familiar with the Grand Assembly and it brought

representative throughout Afghenistan together to establish a post Taliban government,
we know that, |

Detainee: Thank You, that's very good that you know, When they decided to do the
hearing (Loya Jirga) the first one was in Afghanistan. Not only Afghan representatives
were present, there were representatives from all over the world who participated in that
one. That Loya Jirga there was about 1,550 delegates and the purpose of the Loya Jirga
was to decide on whom the President was going to be in the transitjonal government.
There was not any discussion about anything other than choosing the President of the
transitional government. There weren’t any talks about Parliament and they didn’t
discuss Parliament in that Loya Jirga at all. '

Presiding Officer: Okay, I would like to stop now and get back to the allegation and find
out whether you provided money to delegates of the assembly to buy their votes,

Detainee: It was all connected to the allegations. The two allegations were talking about
me and what I did with Loya Jirga and that’s why I want to give extra information.

Presiding Officer: Okay thank you very much. I would like for you to now answer that
allegation,

Detaince: There wasn’t any place for buying or selling votes in Loya Jirga. If you
logically look at the history of Loya Jirga and this allegation, you would probably know
that it is a false and baseless allegation. Now I am going to answer it. These reports are
false, and I neither paid any members of the Grand Assembly nor did I go there to
become a member. There were no votes to buy n this provisional National assembly
because the voting was for the presidency. Most of my friends and I voted for Karzai and
there was no need to buy any votes for him. Furthermore, during the election of the
Grand Assembly none of the members of the Gardez zone spend any money. This is an
obvious lie because the election was controlled by the UN and there was no problem in
the Gardez zone. If there were any problems a report would have been given to the
Crand Assembly or UN. I did not elect myself to become President and President Karzai
did not need to buy a vote, everyone voted for him. I did not elect myself, why would I
buy votes for other people? That just doesn’t make sense. N

Presiding Officer: Do you know if the Iranians were trying to influence the delegates
during that assembly?

Detainze: They couldn’t do that because the Iranians did not have a representative or
allies there. Karzai was the only candidate and the people of Afghanistan chose him.

Designated Military Officer: (3.d.2) A source said that the Detainee distributed this
money to five Loya Jirga members from Paktia Province. The Detainee stated that he
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expected to be elected to the parliament as one of the two representatives from Pakita
Province.

Detainee: There were about 1,550 participants in the Preliminary Grand Council, If
these five members are well known please ask them who gave them money and why? If
one of them says I gave them money, then I will admit to all the allegations because this

* issue is a pure lie. For better clarification of this fabrication I should mention that
parliament is not the responsibility of the Grand Council. It was organized this year and
the election took place on September 18, 2005. How is it possible to give someone
money for gaining a vote that is needed three years later?

Designated Military Officer: (3.d.3) A foreign government reports that as of late April
2003, Mansour reportedly was receiving financial and logistical support from Iran.

Detainee: This question does not relate to me and there is no need for me to answer that.

Designated Military Officer: (3.d.4) On 10 August 2003, the Detainee returned to
Afghanistan from Iran in order to distribute money to anti-coalition militants on behalf of
Saifullah Rahman Mansour. The Detainee retumed to the Gardez, Afghanistan area with
approximately $150,000 United States Dollars to be distributed to tribal leaders and
representatives of 14 ant-coalition militant groups in Gardez area of Pakita province,
Afghanistan. The Detainee planned to hold a meeting with the 14 representatives on the
night of 12 August 2003 or 13 August 2003, at which time the Detainee planned to
distribute the money.

Detainee: I retumed to my homeland along with my brothers and friends to serve the
people, support the central government, stabilize democracy and rebuild our country. 1
wanted to facilitate the conditions for the return of my family, to build my house and start
a job. | have neither been sent to Afghanistan by anybody else nor have I carried money
from anyone. My company was Dr, Ismail, my brother, and Dr.Reza, my cousin, who
were not ordinary people. How could such well-known individuals with established
academic backgrounds and personalities transfer money in such difficult and unsafe
conditions of that time? Hearing the name of Mansour and other criminals like him is
reminiscent of the hardship and blood shed era for the people of Gardez and I have never
had any connection with him. I haven’t had any links with any financial resource nor
have I had any money with me. This plot was coordinated by liar-conspirators to achieve
personal gain. On the other hand there are no anti coalition groups in Gardez. The city
of Gardez consists of 14 Farsi speaking villages that were rescued from blood shed and
hardship by the establishment of democracy and a coalition government. They seek
happiness and prosperity with the central government under the leadership of Mr. Karzai.
They never associated with the enemies of this government but always showed their total
support in war against its enemies. I was in Gardez for two days, if | had money with me
then, what happened to that money? You have my handbag with you. I want to mention
one thing, here they are talking about 14 anti American groups in Gardez. I can assure
you that there is not even one anti-American or anti-Coalition group. 1would like to
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mention one more thing. When I am talking about those 14 villages, none of the tribal
leaders are anti-American or anti-Coalition, neither are the people of those villages. We
don’t have anyone in Gardez that would be against the current government. We have
very bad memories from the leadership of previous governments, therefore we are always
there to help and support our current government. '

Presiding Officer: Do 'you know any of these conspirators that are against you?
Detainee: Yes, it is mentioned later and my statement. We will talk about it.

Designated Military Officer: (3.d.5) The Detainee left Afghanistan in approximately
February 2003, when he learned that United States Coalition Forces were seeking to
detain him. The Detainee is reported to have transported the brother of Saifullah Rahman
Mansour, Latif Mansour, along with several unidentified members of Saifullah Rahman
Mansour’s family to an unknown location in Iran at that time.

Detainee: Iwent to Gardez for the first time afier the fall of the Taliban in late April
2002 to see my country and family. With the encouragement and support of the people [
participated in the election process for senators and was elected a member of the senate
from the people of Gardez. Afier three months and a few days in (early August) I went to
Iran via Afghan Airlines and in 2003 I was in Hajj/ Mecca. Everybody knows [ was in
Hajj in that year and the time of the Hajj is very clear and we call it Eeid (Muslim holiday
at the end of the Hajj). The people of Gardez welcomed us because it is a custom to
welcome Hajjis; they go to visit those who return from Hajj. I have some documents in
that regard, and Hajj cards might be in my wallet. Since I was not in Afghanistan, how
could the coalition forces chase me? Since I have never committed any wrongdoing, the
coalition forces have never been following me, In the month of August that year also I
was welcomed by the people. I have never traveled to Afghanistan secretly and that
report is wrong. As I mentioned eatlier, I have no relation to Mansour’s family, They
are from Zurmat and I am from Gardez, and in the time of Taliban I haven’t gone to
Afghanistan. I would like to say one more thing, I never had fear or thought for one
minute that American Forces were following me or that they would be after me. I
thought they were my friends and that I was their friend. I never had the fear of being
followed by Americans or Coalition Forces. About Mansour’s family, in Afghanistan

. there are & lot of sensitive areas besides the culture differences, the religious differerices
and especially during those areas were sensitive more than ever. Mansour’s family is
Sunnis and I am a Shiite so there is no way they would trust me or allow me to travel
with their family,

»

Presiding Officer: Thank you, understood.

Desiguated Military Officer: (4) The following primary factors favor release or transfer
(4.2) The Detainee stated that he never provided support to the anti-coalition militia, the
Taliban or al Qaida. The Detainee said that he fully supported the Coalition Forces and
that there were recorded conversations with the Coalition Forces about the promise of
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democracy in Afghanistan. The Detainee strongly believes that with the help of the
Coalition Forces, democracy in Afghanistan is possible today. The Detainee stated that
even during the jihad, he did not work with those who were against the United States.

Detainee: [ have never cooperated with them and I have been against them. In the time of
their government ] was a refugee and I preferred all the difficulties of being away from
home over accepting any position with them. In the time of their government I did not go
to Afghanistan for even one single day to take care of my estates and personal property.
After the fall of the Taliban, ] went to Afghanistan for the first time in late April 2002.
With the encouragement of people, I was the speaker for Gardez Grand Council and
talked in support of democracy and the coalition forces as a token of appreciation for
them (Coalition Forces). This scene was filmed by international observers. Ibelieve that
the existence of Americans is very beneficial to the stabilization of democracy and
preservation of peace in Afghanistan. I have never been in ideological agreement with
those who are against Americans. In that meeting I actual talked in favor of President
Karzai, his government, Coalition Forces and the Americans. [ talked against anti~
government forces, anti-American forces, communists, and any other groups that were
against our government, I actually revealed their crimes and the atrocities that they have
done to our people, I revealed. After that meeting, these anti-government groups and the
communists, they were against me and they did propaganda that I have become an
American or that ] have become Americanized. There were rumors that I took money
from the Americans and that’s why I was speaking in their favor. They were saying these
were not my words an America was paying me. After that I was threatened and these
conspirators started to lie about it.

Designated Military Officer: (4.b) The Dctﬁinee advised that he only traveled with 8550
United States Dollars prior to his arrest.

Detainee: I only had enough money for my own expenses during this trip and did not
have any extra money.

Presiding Officer: Do you normally travel with U.S. Dollars?

Detainee: It is just much easier to travel with American Dollars because if we travel with
Tranian money or Afghan money we would have to have a huge amount with us because

it has no value. So a lot of Afghans like to travel with American money because it takes
up less space. ' '

Designated Military Officer; (4.c) The Detainee denied allegations against him including
distributing Kalashnikav rifles, talking about selling or transporting Kalashnikovs on the
radio or being with Mansour against the government.

Detainee: Inever had any ties or links with anti government groups and never associated
with them in any area. As previously mentioned I did not assist Mansour or anybody else
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against the central government of Mr. Karzai, I was a supporter and helper for the
government everywhere.

Designated Military Officer: (4.d.) The Detainee stated he never fought against nor
assisted anyone else who fought against any United States Forces.

Detainee: I was not in Afghanistan during the Taliban regime, therefore I did not
participate in any anti-American or anti-coalition movement or operation and never had
any associations or relations with those who oppose the central government. There are
several facts that prove my opposition against Taliban. I was an immigrant, homeless
and straggly during the Taliban rule. They are extremist Pashtuns, while I am Farsi
speeker. They are Mullahs and Sunni Muslim, while I am educated and a Shiite Muslim.
They are narrow minded and cruel while I am an intellectual individual who looks at
everything under the light of peace, security and establishment of a strong ceniral
government. Therefore there is nothing in common between me and the Taliban or al
Qaida. I have always been against their thoughts, ideology and actions.

Designated Military Officer: (4.e) The Detainee denied being a member of the Taliban or
al Qaida and stated that he is against the Taliban.

Detainee: This allegation 'was answered with the foregoing allegation 4.d.

Designated Military Officer: (4.f) The Detainee stated that the 11 September 2001 attack
was a big crime against bumans and that everyone who is responsible are criminals.

Detainee: Yes, that’s true. I call the killing of innocent people under any name a crime

to humanity, and especially condemn this tragedy and call those who were responsible for
these attack criminals.

Designated Military Officer: {4.g) The Detainee indicated that the United States arrival
in Afghanistan was the saving of the Shia people.

Detainee: During the Taliban regime Shiites and Farsi speakers had to go through lots of
difficulties. They had to face massive killings, lootings and invasions. In many areas,
people even did not have the right of performing their religious rituals, beliefs or even
speaking the Farsi language. Establishment of democracy with the help of American
power removed all these tragedies and for the same reason Shiites look at this as a hope
for their survival. Now thanks to democracy and peacekeeping coalition forces, one of
Mr. Karzai’s assistants is Shiite and there are a few Shiites ministers working in the
current cabinet. In our new constitution the Shiite religion has been recognized as an
official religion and the Farsi language is the official government language as well.

Designated Military Officer: (4.h) When released, the Detainee intends to go to Gardez,
Afphanistan and be a medical doctor.
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Detainee: Yes, I would like to serve my people and my government under the light of

peace and freedom with honesty and proficiency in the medical area and any area they
would want me to work.

Designated Military Officer: (4.1) The Detainee claimed he was wrongfully detained. He
believes that someone told American Forces he brought back $150,000 United States
Dollars from fran to Afghanistan to fund anti coalition militant forces. The Detainee
denied these allegations, The Detainee further related he has never had more that $1,000
United States Dollars with him.

Detainee: | am certain that my detention is a mistake. As a result of my detention, other
intellectual individuals like-me who are determined to return to their homeland with the
intention of serving their country and people will hesitate to return because of fear of
facing similar problems. This would do damage to our government. This would make
professionals who are faithful to our government run away. I, as a servant and
representative of the people and as a member of the Loya Jirga, who’s intention was
nothing but serving the people, had to face these difficulties because of false reports.
Making false reports is not a hard thing to do in Afghanistan, especially for the former
communists of KHAD (Government intelligence services), who were trained by the
KGB. It is easy for them to find governmental documents and seals. In order to achieve
their goals they would use any means to eliminate opposition from their path. They are
attempting to weaken the government and to harm the reputation of coalition forces. Iam
assuming this allegation is just part of the imagination of the people who made this report
about me, they probably created this allegation.

Presiding Officer: Who created the allegations?
Detainee: The people who reported against me.

Designated Military Officer: (4.j) The Detainee listed numerous groups that could
benefit from his detention. The possible opponents included opponents in a land rights
court case, defeated candidates for Loya Jirga, the intelligence service, and former
Communists.

Detainee: This plot and conspiracy against me was organized by personal enemies,
political opponents, and even the Taliban and their remains and former communists with
the help of KHAD, and individuals trained by the KGB. They achieved their goals, Itis
necessary to mention that from long before and especially because of war and killings
there are numerous differences. Conflicts and fanaticism based on tribal, language, and
religious, ideological, political and territorial differences exist. Unfortunately, due to the
lack of central government and national autonomy, each group uses all possible tools to
remove their opposition. Unfortunately in Paktia province, in addition to language
differences between the majorities of Pashtuns and Farsi speakers in the city of Gardez,
and Shiites, especially in our village, which is the only Shiite village in the entire Paktia
province, there are deep differences among the different groups. For example, conflicts
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between communists and Mujahideen’s. The communists fell from power at the hand of
the Mujahideen and Taliban, and the failure of communism worldwide was a huge
humiliation to them. The communists were thrown off the political, social and
governmental stage. When democracy was established, Mr, Karzai invited former
government workers to assist the current government in restoring governmental offices
destroyed by the Taliban. Different individuals refurned to different offices but since the
intelligence offices did not have any workers other than former communist government
workers, all communists gathered to this particular office and resumed their activities.
They contacted other communists and turned Gardez into the center of communist
activity, The communists have a long history in Paktia province. Many powerful
officials within the communist government were from Paktia province, including Najib,
the majority of the communist commanders and the defense and internal affairs ministers.
In fact, in the current parliament one of the well-known communists, Gulaab Zoi, who
was the internal affairs minister for the communist regime and a representative of Khost
provinge, tried to recruit people by conducting numerous meetings at the beginning to
gain power and remove the opposition. They want to take revenge on the Mujahideen at
any price, and one of their methods is to influence the government and coalition forces
and by making false reports and telling lies. They were thought to do this by the KGB in
Russia since there were not any intelligence classes in Afghanistan and all KHADjsts
were trained in Russia.

Communist plotted and conspired against some people, and with various methods
delivered reports to government and American authorities. If the authorities questioned
the validity of these reports, the same people would approve their soundness, Forging
documents is not difficult in Afghanistan, and these people with all the opportunities and
training by the KGB, have always plotted against their opponents to eliminate them and
achieve many other personal goals. '

1- They eliminated Mujahideen, their old political adversaries.
2- They strengthened their position by giving the reports of so-called opposition to
_ government and coalition forces.

3- They influenced people against America, which is still considered an enemy by
communists, telling them that Americans imprison innocent individuals who serve
their people and they even imprison their own friends.

4- They drove the honest people who are faithful to the government away from
helping, protecting and supporting the central government so they get power and
do their activities.

5~ From this they received enough money because it was known that the Americans
would pay snitches. '

They wanted to make conflict amongst the people in the government.

Presiding Officer: Is this the KGB that you are talking about?

Detainee: Yes.
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Detainee: For example, in the Province of Paktia they tumed Pacha Khan, who was once
a supporter of Karzai’s government, they turned him against the government (Pacha
Khan). As a result of this conflict there were numerous fights and conflicts between the
government and Pacha Khan's Forces. There was lots of killing and fighting during this
conflict and that was a bad thing of course for the Province of Paktia and Chows.

Desighated Military Officer: (4.k) The Detainee stated that he once received a warning
from the Taliban when he was attempting to run for tribal leader by the Deputy Minister
of Zormat. The Detainee was told that he had become Americanized and that he should
be careful.

Detainee: Being a candidate to the Loya Jirga (Grand Assembly) at that time in Paktia
was a dangerous thing because the opposition and Taliban boycotted the Loya Jirga. A
few of the members were killed and some were kidnapped; for this reason not all had the
courage to be a candidate. I also received threats from different people and places. I
later learned that one of those who threatened me was the Deputy Secretary of the
Department of Borders. He threatencd that by becoming a candidate and working with
the central government and coalition forces I had become an American and 1 should
watch out for myself.

Designated Military Officer: This concludes the Unclassified Summary of Evidence.

' The Designated Military Officer confirmed that he had no further unclassified
information and requested a closed session to present classified information relevant to
the disposition of the Detainee.

The Presiding Officer acknowledged the request.

The Presiding Officer opened the Administrative Review Board to the Detainee to
present information with the assistance of the Assisting Military Officer.

Assisting Military Officer: Yes sir, the Detainee would like to make an oral statement
and he has also provided written documentation. I am handing the Administrative
Review Board the following unclassified exhibits, marked as EC-C1 through EC-C10.

Copies of these exhibits have been previously provided to the Designated Military
Officer.

Detainee: Are you going to return my letters back to me?
Presiding Officer: Yes we will,
Presiding Officer: You may begin your statement.

The Detainee made the following statement:
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Detainee: Respectful members of the Administrative Review Board, I would like to
thank you for your patience and I would like to present my statement. You have been
very patience with me and 1 appreciate that. I, the accused standing before you, who by
turn of bad fortune have spent a period of nearly three difficult years in a rough
environment at this prison, am, in actuality, a physician specializing in pediatrics. During
the aggression of the communist regime I became a refugee; therefore, I was compelled
to abandon my studies at the University of Medicine in Kabul. Subsequently, I spent a
significant amount of my time as a refugee, accompenying the Mujahideen and
performing the duties and services of a physician. Following the expulsion of the
Russians, I abandoned all military and political activities and recommenced my studies.
Sadly to say, the period of my education coincided with Taliban’s suffocation of and
stronghold on Afghanistan. For this reason, I took preference in being a refugee instead
of working and cooperating with the Taliban, I, along with thousands of other educated
people, counted the moments when the Taliban regime would collapse, for democracy to
rise, and for all of us to return to our country in order to serve our people and to assist in
the establishment of peace and democracy. For these reasons I returned to my country
and endeavored to participate in the “Loya Jirga” (Grand Assembly), which is a national
process, I supported the Karzai government as well as all those taking part within its
infrastructure, [ view the assistance and support of the coalition forces as an agent of
hope for our people, especially the support of the United States who, during the Jihad cra,
helped and supported our people. The Afghans view the Americans as their one greatest
friends; they have an abundance of respect for Americans because they helped get rid of
the Taliban and al Qaida.

I especially think of the Ameticans as being the catalysts for relieving the suffering and
oppression of Shiite Afghans by the Taliban, for restoring justice, for supporting
intellectuals, and specifically, for restoring women’s rights.

From the very beginning my intention to go to Afghanistan was to be of service to my
people and to assist and support the central government of Afghanistan. Presently, with
my knowledge and honesty I want to serve my people, assist my government in any
manner, and I will not shy from offering my services to my people in any shape or form. I
will offer my services and assistance in the establishment of the central and national
government and in the establishment of a stronghold of democracy and freedom with all
the forces faithful to the government. I've never been and never wili be a danger to the
United States; instead, I view Americans as being long-term friends of my people, and 1
admire their determination in establishing peace and democracy and their endeavors
toward annihilating al Qaida and world terrorism, Isee my imprisonment as a plot and
conspiracy carried out by my enemies and wicked people, and I see myself innocent. 1
view my captivity as something that inflicts harm to the peace, secutity, and construction
of my country. It is due to the propaganda of those opposed to the government that
innocent people such as myself are in prison. '

Prison is a place reserved for killers and criminals. Ihave committed no crime, nor have

I committed any unlawful acts. I therefore view my imprisonment as being unlawful, and
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I request the honorable Board to consider my freedom. Since my entire family is
educated, myself, my brothers, my cousins, my wife and all the women in my family, we
all are willing to go back to our country to help our people. Right now the majority of
my family had returned back to Gardez and they are working there. One of the wishes of
my wife and myself and it is mentioned on those letters, that she wants to go back to
Afghanistan an serve in the government of that country. Me and my family we have
always been away from Afghanistan through the communist government, Mujahideen
government and the Taliban government, we were away and immigrants because we
were against their ways, their ideology, their thought and their concepts. Now things are
different, there is democracy and peace in Afghanistan and my family would like to
return back and serve our people under the light of Democracy. Especially for women,
there are opportunities to participate in the government. Under the light of the
democracy that has been provided by or government and with the help of our American
friends and the Coalition Forces, we would like to go and serve our people. Some of my
family members did return 1o Afghanistan and they are helping the government.

I have been true and honest and this is something that all the interrogators can attest to. T
took an oath, which is very holy amongst Afghans and other Muslims, and which in such
manners is something that resolves decisions. In regard to the questions mentioned
above, I’ve taken a polygraph as well as voice stress test, and ['ve proven that I'm
truthful. Furthermore, interrogators who have put me through these tests have told me
that I’'m not guilty. You can find this information in my file. I have always acted in a

respectful manner with both my interrogators and guards; I have not caused any problems
with either of the two.

Furthermore, | would like to present documents from my friends and relatives as
testimony. There are also people from my locality in this camp who are wiling to be
witnesses and offer festimony against the allegations. I would like to ask my Assisting
Military Officer to get the witness statement from them verbally or written. I would like
to ask the respectful members of this Administrative Review Board to please review my
statement from the tribal process.

Presiding Officer: We have those and they have been reviewed.

Detainee: I would like to thank all of you and ask that you please review my file truly
and with good will. .

Presiding Officer: DMO we do have the documents he just mentioned?
Designated Military Officer: Yes, that’s correct.
Presiding Officer: Does that conclude your statement?

Detainee: Yes.
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Presiding Officer: Thank You!

The Assisting Military Officer had no questions for the Detainee.
The Designated Military Officer had no questions for the Detainee.
Administrative Review Board Member’s questions:

Board Member: How was your time in Iran when you were 2 refugee?
Detainee: I was a student.

Board Member: Did you have a job at that time?

Detainee: | was doing side work, part-time jobs but I didn’t have an official job. Ihad |
jobs only a student would do.

Board Member: I understand. What do you think of the Iranian Government?
Detainee: I can speak for all the Afghan refugees living in Iran, nobody liked the Iranian

Government and all Afghans did not look at the Imanian Government as a good
government.

Board Member: So they were looking forward to going home?
Detainee: Yes indeed.

Board Member; Did you get married in Iran or Afghanistan?
Detainee: In Iran, but my wife is Afghan not Iranian,

Board Member: You sid during that time period you went back and forth between Iran
and Afghanistan a number of times during the Russian occupation?

Detainee: Pakistan.
Board Member: Pakistan, I stand corrected. How many times did you go back and forth?

Detainee: There is not an official border between Pakistan and Afghanistan, especially
near my Province of Paktia, it is right on the border of Pakistan. I would go a couple of

times a year and it has never been a problem. I personally traveled a couple of times a
year.

Board Member: This is not so much a question as it is an observation. Youare a
children’s doctor so how can a children’s doctor have so many enemies and people who
want to cause you hardship?
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Detainee: I did mention some of the reasons, which were religious, tribal and language
and these types of personal animosities. My family is educated and my father has more
money than the majority of the people in that area. The jealousy also plays aroll. |
would like to mention my father owns lots of land in our Province and the Taliban would
fabricate the documents and would take the land from people by force. The new
government under Karzai announced if anyone comes with the original documents for
having land we would give their land back to them. So when returning back to
Afghanistan it made some people nervous because they knew we were going to collect
our land back. They got nervous and they got jealous.

Presiding Officer: If you were transferred back to Afghanistan, how do you feel you
would be received by the Karzai Government?

Detainee: I am 100% sure that if T go back to Afghanistan they would look atme asa
servant to their government, As a person who would work for them because when they
did the Grand Assembly I was and an activist for Karzai.

- Presiding Officer: Were you an actual member of the Grand Assembly?
Detainee: Yes.
Presiding Officer: How were you selected as a representative for the Assembly?
Detainee: It is not a parliament first of all. |
Presiding Officer: I understand that.
Detainee: My close friends and the people of Gardez selected me. First I was elected by
the people of my own village and then the other people from other villages in Gardez
chose four candidates and one of them was me.
Presiding Officer: When did you live in Pakistan, the years?
Detainee: During the five years of jihad I lived in Pakistan.
Presiding Officer: Could you give me the years?
Detainee: Since I became an immigrant, I went to Pakistan in 1982.
Presiding Officer: How long did you live there?
Detainee: Until 1990.
Presiding Officer: Did you live in Iran?
Detainee: After 1990, in 1991 I was in Iran. Until the fall of Taliban,
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Presiding Officer: So approximately, until 2001.
Detainee: April 2002, I came back,

Presiding Officer: I do find it hard to believe that someone could make an allegation
against you no matter how strong and the United States government would imprison you
and fly you all the way to Cuba. I find that difficult to believe.

Detainee: Exactly, I never thought for a second that I would be detained by the
Americans and they were going to bring me all the way to Cuba. When I remember the
aliegations from the first tribunal, this court, when I look at the allegation my enernies
looked at the things that were sensitive to the Americans and they knew and did it
purposely. It tells me that they are professionals and they have been taught very well.
The Americans are very sensitive towards their enemies in Afghanistan. My personal
enemies connect me with Mansour and the Jranian government to make it look like
{something wrong]. Unfortunately I couldn’t afford to go anywhere but Iran like other
Afghans. There were thousands other Afghan. During Jihad ] kind of know that not
Mansour but his father was one of the leaders of the Islamic Movement and he was

killed. 1don’t know anything about his son or have any connections with him and he is
not connected to me.

* Presiding Officer: Prior to your arrest, did you ever suspect that the U.S or Coalition
Forces were looking for you to detain you?

Detainee: No sit, not even for a single second. 1did not think about it. Not only me, not
even my friends. I never did anything against the United States.

Presiding Officer: So if you here under false aliegations, and I reaily do believe you

could do some good in your country because you are an educated man, we will just have
to make that decision.

Detainee: Thank you very much for the nice words and my intentions are only to sir my
people and my government.

Presiding Officer: Thank you sir.

The Presiding Officer read the post-Administrative Review Board instructions to the
Detainee and adjourned the open session of the Administrative Review Board.

The Presiding QOfficer opened the classified portion of the session,

The Presiding Officer adjourned the classified portion of the session and the
Administrative Review Board was closed for deliberation and voting.
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AUTHENTICATION

I certify the material contained in this transcript is a true and accurate summary of the
: v ino the .

olonel, U.5.
Presiding Officer
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A- Duringtibe Russian occupation all the people of Afghanistan started
an uprising against the occupiers and they gathered, organized and joined in
big and small groups while the whole world supported this cause,
particulaﬂy the Islamic countries and free western countries, especially
America.- 1 had expertise in medicine and while 1 was a refugee in Pakistan I
went to Afghanistan for 2 years and a few months and helped the
Mujahideen. ‘While helping the Mujahideen 1 got injured. After the
departure of the Russian forces from Afghanistan I got busy with my
education and left all political and military activity behind. I got busy in MYy
personal life and my education. 1wasa refugee in Iran the whole time
during the Muj ahideen's and Taliban’s government. 1 went back to
Afghanistan after the establishment of democracy 1o help the central
government and the people of Afghanistan.

B- During the Mujehideen’s Tihad, T had a weapon for my own
protection. There was no {raining required on how to use a Kalashnikov and
all Afghans had weapons and knew how to use them.

Cl- During the Jihad I was with the Mujahideen who were with the
Harakati Ingilab-e- Islami (Islamic Revolutionary Movement), which was
formed in Afghanistan. 1t’s not comparable with western organizations,
rather everybody in their own area would get together with Mujahideen and
it was not important 1o the people which group was with which organization.
Nasroullah Mansour was one of the leaders of Islamic Revolutionary
Movement, and my connection with him was like any other Mujehid’s
connection with the Islamic Revolutionary Movement. 1 don’t have any

personal connection with him; he was killed in 1371 (1992-1993).

C2- As mentioned above, during the occupation of Afghanistan by Russia

I served with the Mujahideen of the Jslamic Revolutionary Movement as &

medical doctor. 1 wentto Afghanistan with the Mujahideen a fow months

. out of a year and 1 have no ties with any other political group and am not
part of any group-

C3- 1 consider connection with foreigners a big deficiency and betrayal to
my country, therefore I have never used this word. 1 copsider this a lie and
false accusation, 1wasa refugee in Iran. There are more than two million
[Afghan} refugees living in Iran and more than that live in P akistan and
other countries. If any of these people were 10 return to their country to help

2
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and serve and face an accusation like this, would anybody dare to come back
to their country? Does living in another country as a refugee make him an
agent of that country? Is not this accusation, without cause, made of
thousands of educated and intellectual people, the work of the enemies of the
country who don’t want these people to return o Afghanistan and
democracy? This is exactly what this accusation without cause is: a plot, a

trick, and conspiracy of the people who wanted to keep me away from the
scene.

C4- Neither I saw or know Saiful Rahman Mansour, nor do I have any
connection with him. I only heard his name on the radio. During the
Taliban I was not in Afghanistan and I never mentioned in my written
defense statement in the first court that T have been a representative of these
kinds of people. 1 consider any connection with these people whose hands
are tainted with the blood of our nation a deficiency and a shame.

D1- These reports are false, and I neither paid any members of the Grand
Assembly nor did { go there to become a member. There were no votes to
buy in this provisional National assembly because the voting was for the
presidency. Most of my friends and I voted for Karzai and there was no
need to buy any votes for him. Furthermore, during the election of the
Grand Assembly none of the members of the Gardez zone spend any money.
This is an obvious lie because the election was controlled by the UN and
there was no problem in the Gardez zone. If there were any problems a
report would have been given to the GrandAssembly or UN

D2- There were about 1550 participants in the Preliminary Grand Council.
If these 5 members are well known please ask them who gave them money
and why? If one of them says I gave them money, then I will admit to all the
allegations because this issue is a pure lie. For better clarification of this
fabrication I should mention that parliament is not the responsibility of the
Grand Council, It was organized this year and the election took place on
September 18, 2005. How is it possible to give someone money for gaining a
vote that is needed 3 years later?

D3- This question does not relate to me and there is no need for me to
answer that.
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D4- I returned to my homeland along with my brothers and friends to
serve the people, support the central govermnment, stabilize democracy and
rebuild our country. I wanted to facilitate the conditions for the return of my
family, to build my house and start a job. 1have neither been sent o
Afghanistan by anybody else nor have I carried money from anyone. My
company was Dr. Ismail, my brother, and Dr.Reza, my cousin, who were not
ordinary people. How could such well-known individuals with established
academic backgrounds and personalities transfer money in such difficult and
unsafe conditions of that time? Hearing the name of Mansour and other
criminals like him is reminiscent of the hardship and blood shed era for the
people of Gardez and I have never had any connection with him. I haven’t
had any links with any financial resource nor have | had any money with me.
This plot was coordinated by liar-conspirators to achieve personal gain. On
other hand there are no anti coalition groups in Gardez. The city of Gardez
consists of 14 Farsi speaking villages that were rescued from blood shed and
hardship by the establishment of democracy and a coalition government.
They seek happiness and prosperity with the central government under the
leadership of Mr. Karzai. They never associated with the enemies of this
government but always showed their total support in war against its enemies.
I was in Gardez for 2 days, if | had money with me then, what happened to
that mopey? You have my hand-bag with you.

D35- [ went to Gardez for the first time after the fall of the Taliban in late
April 2002 to see my country and family. With the encouragement and
support of the people I participated in the election process for senators and
was elected a member of the senate from the people of Gardez. After3
months and a few days in (early August) I went to Tran via Afghan Airlines
and in2003 I was in Hajj/ Mecca. Everybody knows I was in Hajj in that
year and the time of the Hajj is very clear.

The people of Gardez welcomed us because it is a custom to welcome
Hajjis; they go to visit those who returft from Hajj. I have some documents
in that regard, and Hajj cards might be in my wallet. Since I was not in
Afghanistan, how could the coalition forces chase me? Since I have never
committed any wrongdoing, the coalition forces have never been following
me. In the month of August that year also I was welcomed by the people. I
have never traveled to Afghanistan secretly and that report is wrong. As I
mentioned earlier, I have no relation to Mansour’s family. They are from
Zurmat and I am from Gardez, and in the time of Taliban I haven’t gone to
Afghanistan.
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4a- 1 have never cooperated with them and T have been against them. In the
time of their government I was a refugee and I preferred all the difficulties
of being away from home over accepting any position with them. In the time
of their government I did not go to Afghanistan for even one single day to
take care of my estates and personal property. After the fall of the Taliban I
went to Afghanistan for the first time in late April 2002, With the
encouragement of people I was the speaker for Grand Council and I talked in
support of democracy and the coalition forces as a token of appreciation for
them. This scene was filmed by international observers. I believe that the
existence of Americans is very beneficial to the stabilization of democracy
and preservation of peace in Afghanistan. I have never been in ideological
agreement with those who are against Americans.

4B- 1 only had enough money for my own expenses during this trip and did
not have any extra money.

4C-I never had any ties or links with anti government groups and never
associated with them in any area. As previously mentioned 1 did not assist
Mansour or anybody else against the central government of Mr. Karzai. I
was a supporter and helper for the government everywhere.

4D & 4E- 1 was not in Afghanistan during the Taliban regime, therefore 1
did not participate in any anti-American or anti-coalition movement or
operation and never had any associations or relations with those who oppose
the central government. There are several facts that prove my opposition
against Taliban. 1 was an immigrant, homeless and straggly during the
Taliban rule. They are extremist Pashtuns, while I am Farsi speaker. They
are Mullahs and Sunni Muslim, while I am educated and Muslim. They are
narrow minded and cruel while I am an intellectual individual who looks at
everything under the light of peace, security and establishment of a strong

. central government. Therefore there is nothing in common between me and

the Taliban or al Qaida. I have always been against their thoughts, ideology
and actions.

4F- I call the killing of innocent people under any name a crime to humanity,
and especially condemn this tragedy and call those who were responsible for

this attack criminals.
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4G- During the Taliban regime Shiites and Farsi speakers had to go through
lots of difficulties. They had to face massive killings, lootings and
invasions. In many areas, people even did not have the right of performing
their religious rituals, beliefs or even speaking the Farsi language.
Establishment of democracy with the help of American power removed all
these tragedies and for the same reason Shiites look at this as a hope for their
survival. Now thanks to democracy and peace-keeping coalition forces, one
of Mr. Karzai’s assistants is Shiite and there are few Shiites ministers
working in the current cabinet. In our new constitution the Shiite religion
has been recognized as an official religion and the Farsi language is the
official government language as well.

4H- 1 would like to serve my people and my government under the light of "
peace and freedom with honesty and proficiency in the medical area.

41- I am certain that my detention is a mistake. As a result of my detention,
other intellectual individuals like me who are determined to return to their
homeland with the intention of serving their country and people will hesitate
to return because of fear of facing similar problems. This would do damage
to our government. This would make professionals who are faithful to our
government run away. L, as a servant and representative of the people and as
a member of the Loya Jerga, who’s intention was nothing but serving the
people, had to face these difficulties because of false reports. Making false
reports is not a hard thing to do in Afghanistan, especially for the former
communists of KHAD (Government intelligence services), who were trained
by the KGB. It is easy for them to find governmental documents and seals.

~ In order to achieve their goals they would use any means 10 eliminate
opposition from their path. They are attempting to weaken the government
and to harm the reputation of coalition forces.

4J- This plot and conspiracy against me was organized by personal enemies,
political opponents, and even the Taliban anid their remains and former
communists with the help of KHAD, and individuals trained by the KGB.
They achieved their goals. It is necessary to mention that from long before
and especially because of war and killings there are numerous differences.
Conflicts and fanaticism based on tribal, language, religious, ideological,
political and territorial differences exist. Unfortunately, due to the lack of
central government and national autonomy, each group uses all possible
tools to remove their opposition. Unfortunately in Paktia province, in
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addition to language differences between the majorities of Pashtuns and
Farsi speakers in the city of Gardez, and Shiites, especially in our village,
which is the only Shiite village in the entire Paktia province, there are deep
differences among the different groups. For example, conflicts between
communists and Mujahedins. The communists fell from power at the hand
of the Mujahedin and Taliban, and the failure of communism worldwide was
a huge humiliation to them. The communists were thrown off the political,
social and governmental stage. When democracy was established, Mr.
Karzai invited former government workers to assist the current government
in restoring governmental offices destroyed by the Taliban. Different
individuals returned to different offices but since the intelligence offices did
not have any workers other than former communist government workers, all
communists gathered to this particular office and resumed their activities.
They contacted other communists and turned Gardez into the center of
communist activity. The communists have a long history in Paktia province.
Many powerful officials within the communist government were from Paktia
province, including Najib, the majority of the communist commanders and
the defense and internal affairs ministers. In fact, in the current parliament
one of the well-known communists, Gulaab Zoi, who was the internal affairs
minister for the communist regime and a representative of Khost province,
tried to recruit people by conducting numerous meetings at the beginning to
gain power and remove the opposition. They want to take revenge on the
Mujahedin at any price, and one of their methods is to influence the
government and coalition forces and by making false reports and telling lies.
They were thought to do this by the KGB in Russia since there were not any
intelligence classes in Afghanistan and all KHADists were trained in Russia.

They plotted and conspired against some people, and with various methods
delivered reports to government and American authorities. If the authorities
questioned the validity of these reports, the same people would approve their
soundness. Forging documents is not difficult in Afghanistan, and these
people with all the opportunities and training by the KGB, have always

plotted against their opponents to eliminate them and achieve many other
personal goals.

1- They eliminated Mujahideen, their old political adversaries.

2- They strengthened their position by giving the reports of so-called
opposition to government and coalition forces.

3~ They influenced people against America, which is still considered an
enemy by communists, telling them that Americans imprison innocent
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individuals who serve their people and they even imprison their own
friends. .

4- They drove the honest people who are faithful to the government
away from helping, protecting and supporting the central government
so they get power and do their activities.

5- From this they received enough money because it was known that the
Americans would pay snitches.

4K- Being a candidate to the Loya Jirga (Grand Assembly) at that time in
Paktia was a dangerous thing because the opposition and Taliban
boycotted the Loya Jirga. A few of the members were killed and some
were kidnapped; for this reason not all had the courage to be a candidate.
I also received threats from different people and places. I later learned
that one of those who threatened me was the deputy secretary of the
department of borders. He threatened that by becoming a candidate and
working with the central government and coalition forces I had become
an American and I should watch out for myself.
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1, the accused standing before you, whe by turn of bad fortune have spent
a period of nearly three difficult years in a rough environment at this prison,
am, in actuality, a physician specializing in pediatrics. During the
aggression of the communist regime I became a refugee; therefore, I was
compelled to abandon my studies at the University of Medicine in Kabul.
Subsequently, I spent a significant amount of my time as a refugee,
accompanying the Mujahidin and performing the duties and services of a
physician. Following the expulsion of the Russians, I abandoned all military
and political activities and recommenced my studies. Sadly to say, the
period of my education coincided with Taliban’s suffocation of and
stronghold on Afghanistan. For this reason, I tock preference in being a
refugee instead of working and cooperating with the Taliban, I, along with
thousands of other educated people, counted the moments when the Taliban
regime would collapse, for democracy to rise, and for all of us to return to
our country in order to serve our people and to assist in the establishment of
peace and democracy. For these reasons I returned to my country and
endeavored to participate in the “Loya Jirga” (Grand Assembly), which is a
national process. I supported the Karzai government as well as all those
taking part within its infrastructure, I view the assistance and support of the
coalition forces as an agent of hope for our people, especially the support of
the United States who, during the Jihad era, helped and supported our
people. The Afghans view the Americans as their one greatest friends; they
have an abundance of respect for Americans because they helped get rid of
the Taliban and al Qaida.

I especially think of the Americans as being the catalysts for relieving
the suffering and oppression of Shiite Afghans by the Taliban, for restoring
justice, for supporting intellectuals, and, specifically, for restoring women’s
rights.

_ From the very beginning my intention to go to Afghanistan was to be
of service to my people and to assist and support the central government of
Afghanistan. Presently, with my knowledge and honesty I want to serve my
people, assist my government in any manner, and I will not shy from
offering my services to my people in any shape or form, I will offer my
services and assistance in the establishment of the central and national
government and in the establishment of a stronghold of democracy and
freedom with all the forces faithful to the government. I’ve never been and
never will be a danger to the United States; instead, I view Americans as
being long-term friends of my people, and I admire their determination in
establishing peace and democracy and their endeavors toward annihilating al
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Qaida and world terrorism. I see my imprisonment as a plot and conspiracy
carried out by my enemies and wicked people, and I see myself innocent. I
view my captivity as something that inflicts harm to the peace, security, and
construction of my country. It is due to the propaganda of those opposed to
the government that innocent people such as myself are in prison.

Prison is a place reserved for killers and criminals. I have committed
no crime, nor have I committed any unlawful acts. I therefore view my
imprisonment as being unlawful, and I request the honorable Board to
consider my freedom.

I have been true and honest and this is something that all the
interrogators can attest to. I took an oath, which is very holy amongst
Afghans and other Muslims, and which in such manners is something that
resolves decisions. In regard to the questions mentioned above, I’ve taken a
polygraph as well as voice stress test, and I've proven that I'm truthful.
Furthermore, interrogators who have put me through these tests have told me
that I'm not guilty. You can find this information in my file. I have always
acted in a respectful manner with both my interrogators and guards; I have
not caused any problems with either of the two.

Furthermore, I would like to present documents from my friends and
relatives as testimony. There are also people from my locality in this camp
who are wiling to be witnesses and offer testimony against the allegations.
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ISN 1154

Exhibit# Date

EC-C1 1 Aug 2005
EC-C2 2 May 2005
EC-C3 12 Jul 2005
EC-C4 17 May 2005
EC-C5 1 Aug 2005
EC-Cé 31 May 2005
EC-C7 2 Sep 2005
EC-C8 1 Ang 2005
EC-(9 2 May 2005

EC-C10 2 May 2005
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CORRESPONDENCE SUBMITTED ON BEHALF OF ENEMY

COMBATANT
Classification Guantanamo#ICR Letter #
Unclassified 2005-A 01827
Unclassified 2005-A 01109
Unclassified 2005-A 02229
Unclassified 2005-A 01111
Unclassified 2005-A 01831
Unclassified 2005-A 01836
Unclassified 2005-A 02553
Unclassified - 2005-A 01826
Unclassified 2005-A 01110
Unclassified Not Available
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EC-CS
Description: Photograph of detainee’s son Mohammad Esau

Translation: This is your son Esau

Enclosure (4)
EC-C5
21958 Page 3 of 3






